

The Queenstown Lakes District Council Traffic and Parking Bylaw 2025 | Kā Waeture Huarahi kā Tūka Waka 2025

Queenstown Lakes District Council

Date of making: 27 November 2025 Commencement: 8 December 2025

This bylaw is made pursuant to Section 22AB of the Land Transport Act 1998 and the Local Government Act 2002.

Contents

1	Title and commencement	Page
2	Area within which Bylaw applies	4
3	Purpose	4
4	Interpretation	4
5	Resolutions made under this Bylaw	7
6	One-way roads	8
7	Left or right turns and U-turns	8
8	Traffic control because of size, nature or goods	8
9	Special vehicle lanes	9
10	Cycle paths	9
11	Shared zones	10
12	Shared Paths	10
13	Engine braking	10
14	Cruising	10
15	Unformed legal road	11
16	Temporary restrictions on the use of roads	11
17	Stopping, standing and parking	11
18	Parking restrictions – parking places and transport stations	12
19	Method of parking	14
20	Mobility parking	14
21	Residents' parking	14
22	Passenger service vehicles, goods service vehicles, rental service vehicles	15
23	Parking off a roadway	15

24	Miscellaneous	15
25	Inspection	16
26	Offences and penalties	17
27	Exceptions	17
28	Revocation	18
29	Savings	18
	Additional information to Traffic and Parking Bylaw 2025	10

Explanatory note

This note is not part of the bylaw but explains its general effects. Queenstown Lakes land transport system exists to connect people and places by supporting the movement of people, goods and services. The use, or parking, of vehicles on roads and public places can, however, cause public safety risks, travel delays, obstruction, public nuisance and damage to the environment, public infrastructure and property.

This bylaw seeks to manage problems caused by vehicle use and parking whilst balancing safety across modes of transport by:

- making rules on parts of the transport system administered by Queenstown Lakes District Council by resolution of the relevant delegated authority (Part 1, Part 2, Part 3)
- making rules for vehicle and road use (Part 2)
- making rules regarding parking, stopping and standing of vehicles (Part 3)
- providing general provisions to support council officers (Part 4)

This bylaw is part of a wider framework of national rules, standards and legislation, as well as council strategies, policies and plans.

Part 1 - Preliminary

1 Title and commencement

- 1.1 This bylaw is the "Queenstown Lakes District Council Traffic and Parking Bylaw 2025 | Kā Waeture Huarahi kā Tūka Waka 2025".
- 1.2 This bylaw comes into force on 8 December 2025.

2 Area within which bylaw applies

This bylaw applies to the Queenstown Lakes District.

3 Purpose

The purpose of this bylaw is to regulate parking and the use of vehicles or other traffic on roads managed and controlled by Queenstown Lakes District Council and other public places.

4 Interpretation

4.1 In this bylaw, unless the context otherwise requires.

Act means the Land Transport Act 1998.

Authorised officer means any person appointed or authorised by the Council to act on its behalf under this bylaw and includes any Parking Warden or Enforcement Officer.

Chains means two separate lengths of chain (commonly referred to as snow chains) which are designed and are able to be fitted over the wheels of a vehicle providing drive-on-the-road surface, thereby increasing the vehicle's traction in ice

and snow.

Council means the Queenstown Lakes District Council.

Cruising has the same meaning as in section 2(1) of the Act.

Driver in relation to a vehicle, includes the rider of a motorcycle or moped or bicycle; and drive has a corresponding meaning.

Electric vehicle has the same meaning as in clause 1.6 of the Land Transport (Road User) Rule 2004.

Enforcement officer has the same meaning as in section 2(1) of the Act.

Footpath has the same meaning as in clause 1.6 of the Land Transport (Road User) Rule 2004.

Goods service vehicle has the same meaning as in section 2(1) of the Act.

Heavy motor vehicle has the same meaning as in section 2(1) of the Act.

Infringement offence has the same meaning as it has in section 2(1) of the Act.

Large passenger service vehicle has the same meaning as in section 2(1) of the Act.

Micromobility device means transportation using lightweight vehicles such as bicycles, skateboards or scooters, especially electric ones that may be used as part of a self-service scheme in which people hire vehicles for short-term use within a town or city.

Mobility parking permit means a mobility parking permit issued by CCS Disability Action.

Motorcycle has the same meaning as in clause 1.6 of the Land Transport (Road User) Rule 2004.

Motor vehicle has the same meaning as in section 2(1) of the Act.

Operate has the same meaning as in section 2(1) of the Act.

Owner has the same meaning as in section 2(1) of the Act.

Parking has the same meaning as in section 2(1) of the Act and park has a corresponding meaning.

Parking machine means a machine which is used to facilitate the payment of charges for parking, and includes a parking meter, pay and display machine or other device.

Parking place means a place (including a building) where vehicles or any class of vehicles may wait or park.

Parking warden means a person appointed to hold the office of parking warden under section 128D of the Land Transport Act 1998.

Passenger service vehicle has the same meaning as in section 2(1) of the Act.

Person has the meaning given in section 13 of the Legislation Act 2019.

Public place means all or part of a place -

- (a) that is under the control of the Council; and
- (b) that is open to, or being used by, the public, whether or not there is a charge for admission; and includes:
- (c) a road, whether or not the road is under the control of the Council.

Ramp in relation to water, means any structure that is provided for launching a vessel into the water or taking a vessel out of the water.

Rental service vehicle has the same meaning as in section 2(1)of the Land Transport Act 1998

Road has the same meaning as in clause 1.6 of the Land Transport (Road User) Rule 2004.

Roadway has the same meaning as in clause 1.6 of the Land Transport (Road User) Rule 2004.

Road margin has the same meaning as in clause 1.6 of the Land Transport (Road User) Rule 2004.

Shared paths have the same meaning as described in clause 11.1A of the Land Transport (Road User) Rule 2004.

Shared zone has the same meaning as in clause 1.6 of the Land Transport (Road User) Rule 2004.

Small passenger service vehicle has the same meaning as in section 2(1) of the Act.

Traffic sign has the same meaning as in clause 1.6 of the Land Transport (Road User) Rule 2004.

Trailer has the same meaning as in clause 1.6 of the Land Transport (Road User) Rule 2004.

Transport station has the same meaning as in section 591(6) of the Local Government Act 1974.

Unformed legal road (also known as 'paper roads') means any legal road that has not been physically formed, laid out, constructed, or enhanced by adding metal seal, or any other type of surface.

Use has the same meaning as in clause 1.6 of the Land Transport (Road User) Rule 2004.

Vehicle has the same meaning as in section 2(1) of the Act.

Wheeled recreational device has the same meaning as in clause 1.6 of the Land Transport (Road User) Rule 2004.

Zone parking, in relation to a road, means a parking restriction imposed by the Council:

- (d) that applies to an area comprising a number of roads; and
- (e) in respect of which persons using vehicles within the area could reasonably be expected to be aware of the application of the parking restriction to the area without the need for the erection of signs at each intersection within the area, for reasons including:
 - (i) the nature of the area; or
 - (ii) the nature of the parking restriction; or
 - (iii) traffic patterns into and within the area; or
 - (iv) the nature and number of entry points to the area; and
- (f) that the Council specifically declares to be a zone parking control.

Zone restriction means an area of roadway the use of which is restricted to a specified class or classes of vehicle or class or classes of road user (with or without a time restriction).

- 4.2 Any explanatory notes and attachments are for information purposes, do not form part of this Bylaw, and may be made, amended or revoked without any formality.
- 4.3 The Legislation Act 2019 applies to this bylaw.

5 Resolutions made under this bylaw

- 5.1 In making a resolution under this bylaw, the Council will take into account the following considerations, if and to the extent they are relevant and in proportion to the significance of the decision:
 - (a) the purpose of this bylaw;
 - (b) the statutory context of the relevant bylaw-making power under section 22AB of the Act 1998 and/or Part 8 of the Local Government Act 2002, as the case may be;
 - (c) the public interest in a safe and efficient road transport system and the Council's contribution to that objective in relation to roads under its control;
 - (d) the likely effect of the decision on members of the public or categories of the public;
 - (e) the nature and extent of the problem being addressed by the proposed decision and the reasonably available options for addressing the problem (if any) apart from making a resolution under this bylaw;
 - (f) the public interest in protecting from damage land and assets which are owned or under the control of the Council.
- 5.2 In making a resolution under this bylaw, Council's parking strategy and other parking related plans and guidelines will be considered.

- 5.3 A resolution made under this bylaw may:
 - (a) regulate, control or prohibit any matter or thing generally, or for any specific classes of case, or in a particular case;
 - (b) apply to all vehicles or traffic or to any specified class of vehicles or traffic;
 - (c) apply to any road or part of a road under the care, control or management of the Council;
 - (d) apply at any specified time or period of time;
 - (e) be made subject to any such conditions as are reasonable in the circumstances; amend, revoke, or revoke and replace any previous resolution made under this bylaw or any equivalent former bylaw.

Part 2 – Vehicle and road use

6 One-way roads

- 6.1 No person shall drive any vehicle on any of the roads specified in a schedule to this bylaw, except in the direction specified in that schedule.
- 6.2 The Council may by resolution:
 - (a) require vehicles on a specified road to travel in one specified direction only;
 - (b) specify that cycles may travel in the opposite direction on a one-way road.
- A person must not drive a vehicle on a one-way road in a direction contrary to that specified in a schedule of this bylaw or pursuant to clause 6.2.

7 Left or right turns and U-turns

- 7.1 The Council may by resolution prohibit on any specified road:
 - (a) any vehicle generally or any specified class of vehicle from turning to the left or turning to the right of the path of travel;
 - (b) any vehicle turning from facing or travelling in one direction to facing or travelling in the opposite direction (performing a U-turn).
- 7.2 A person must not turn a vehicle to the left, or to the right, or perform a U-turn, where that movement has been prohibited pursuant to this clause.

8 Traffic control because of size, nature or goods

- 8.1 The Council may by resolution prohibit or restrict the use of a road as unsuitable for any specified class of traffic or any specified class of vehicle due to its size or manner of operation or the nature of the goods carried.
- 8.2 Unless the resolution says otherwise, no prohibition or restriction made under

- clause 8.1 applies to a waste collection vehicle collecting waste pursuant to a waste collection contract.
- 8.3 A person must not use a road in a manner contrary to a prohibition or restriction made under this clause.
- 8.4 The Chief Executive Officer of the Council may issue permits to contractors in respect of specified construction contracts or projects, authorising vehicles of the permit-holder to be used on any roads or streets in respect of which a prohibition or restriction under clause 8.1 is in place, and to load and unload materials and supplies for such projects, between 10.00am and 6.00pm on any specified day, and subject to such conditions as may be included in the permit.
- 8.5 The Chief Executive Officer of the Council may issue permits to events organisers in respect of specified events, authorising vehicles of the permit-holder to occupy parking spaces, and to be used on any roads or streets in respect of which a prohibition or restriction under clause 8.1 is in place, between 10.00am and 6.00pm on any specified day, and subject to such conditions as may be included in the permit.
- A person is not in breach of clause 8.3 if they are acting pursuant to, and in accordance with, a permit issued under clause 8.4 or clause 8.5.

9 Special vehicle lanes

- 9.1 The Council may by resolution prescribe a road, or a part of a road, as a special vehicle lane that may only be used by a specified class or classes of vehicle.
- 9.2 A person must not use a special vehicle lane contrary to any restriction made under this clause.

10 Cycle paths

- 10.1 The Council may by resolution regulate the use of cycle paths including by:
 - (a) prohibiting the use of the cycle path by specified vehicles or classes of vehicle;
 - (b) determining priority for users of the cycle path by some or all of the following persons:
 - (i) pedestrians;
 - (ii) cyclists;
 - (iii) riders of mobility devices;
 - (iv) riders of wheeled recreational devices;
 - (v) riders of micromobility devices.
- 10.2 A person must not use a cycle path in a manner contrary to any prohibition or restriction made under this clause.

11 Shared zones

- 11.1 The Council may by resolution specify any road or part of a road to be a shared zone.
- 11.2 Any resolution made under this clause may specify:
 - (a) whether the shared zone may be used by specified classes of vehicles;
 - (b) the days and hours of operation of the shared zone (if they differ from 24 hours per day, 7 days per week); and
 - (c) any other restrictions on how the shared zone is to be used by the public, including how traffic and pedestrians will interact.
- Except where the Council has by resolution specified otherwise, no person may stand or park a vehicle in a road specified as a shared zone.
- No person may use a shared zone in a manner that contravenes a restriction made by the Council under this clause.

12 Shared paths

- 12.1 The Council may by resolution:
 - (a) determine the length, route and/or location of a shared path; and
 - (b) determine priority for users on a shared path.
- No person may use a shared path in a manner that contravenes a restriction made by resolution of Council under this clause.

13 Engine braking

- 13.1 The Council may by resolution prohibit or restrict engine braking on any road where the permanent speed does not exceed 70 km/hr.
- 13.2 A person must not use engine braking on any road contrary to a prohibition or restriction made under this clause.

14 Cruising

- 14.1 The Council may by resolution:
 - (a) specify any section of road or roads on which cruising is controlled, restricted or prohibited;
 - (b) prescribe the period of time that must elapse between each time a driver drives on a specified section of road for a driver to avoid being regarded as cruising.
- 14.2 A person must not use a motor vehicle contrary to a control, prohibition or restriction made under this clause.

15 Unformed legal roads

- The Council may by resolution restrict the use of motor vehicles on unformed legal roads for the purpose of protecting the environment, the road and adjoining land, and/or the safety of road users.
- 15.2 A person must not use a motor vehicle on an unformed legal road contrary to a restriction made under this clause.

16 Temporary restrictions on the use of roads

- 16.1 The Council may temporarily restrict the use of, or class of vehicles which may use, any road or part of a road when the Council's Chief Executive Officer considers that:
 - (a) there is, or is likely to arise, at any place on that road a risk of danger to the public or to a person working on or near a road or a risk of damage to the road; or
 - (b) it is necessary for the safety of a special event.
- A person must not drive or use the vehicle contrary to any restriction made under clause 16.1.
- Any vehicle being used for the purpose of maintenance or construction of roading, or a vehicle of a utility operator, may, with the permission of an authorised officer, be driven or parked in a manner contrary to any restriction made under clause 16.1, provided it is driven or parked with due consideration to other road users.

Part 3 - Parking

17 Stopping, standing and parking

- 17.1 The Council may by resolution:
 - (a) prohibit or restrict the stopping, standing or parking of vehicles on any road; or
 - (b) limit the stopping, standing or parking of vehicles on any road to vehicles of any specified class or description, and limit the period of time that such vehicles may stop, stand or park on the road.
- 17.2 For the purposes of clause 17.1(b):
 - (a) a class or description of vehicles may be specified by reference to whether the vehicle, or the driver or owner of the vehicle, has a permit or approval issued by the Council to stop, stand or park the vehicle on that road; and
 - (b) the Council may by resolution establish a permit or approval system which may include, without limitation, specifying or providing for:

- (i) the criteria for obtaining the permit or approval;
- (ii) the process for applying for the permit or approval including the provision of any information to the Council;
- (iii) the payment of any application fee to the Council, and the amount of that fee;
- (iv) the procedure for determining applications;
- (v) the imposition of conditions on any permit or approval issued by the Council;
- (vi) the duration of the permit or approval;
- (vii) the revocation of approvals or permits;
- (viii) any other matter relevant to the approval or permit system.
- A person must not stop, stand or park a vehicle on a road in contravention of a prohibition, restriction or limitation made under this clause, including any condition attaching to a permit or approval referred to in clause 17.2(a).

18 Parking restrictions - parking places and transport stations

- 18.1 The Council may by resolution:
 - (a) prescribe the times, manner (such as angle parking only) and conditions for the parking of vehicles or classes of vehicles in a parking place or transport station;
 - (b) specify the vehicles or classes of vehicles that may or must not use a parking place or transport station, such classes including but not limited to:
 - (i) motorcycles;
 - (ii) cycles, including electric bicycles;
 - (iii) electric vehicles, while in the course of being recharged at an electric vehicle charging station;
 - (iv) goods service vehicles;
 - (v) passenger service vehicles, including large passenger service vehicles and small passenger service vehicles;
 - (vi) vehicles in the course of loading or unloading goods or passengers ("loading zone");
 - (vii) vehicles loading or unloading vessels;
 - (viii) vehicles used by disabled persons;
 - (ix) vehicles used by pregnant women or by persons accompanied by infants or young children;

- (x) wheeled recreational devices.
- (c) prescribe:
 - (i) any charges to be paid for the use of the parking place or transport station; and
 - (ii) the manner by which parking charges may be paid, through the use of parking machines or by way of electronic payment or in any other specified manner, and the way in which proof of payment must be demonstrated (such as display of a receipt);
- (d) make any other provision for the efficient management and control of the parking place or transport station.
- 18.2 For the purposes of clause 18.1(a) and (b):
 - (a) a class of vehicles may be specified by reference to whether the vehicle, or the driver or owner of the vehicle, has a permit or approval issued by the Council to park the vehicle in the parking place or transport station; and
 - (b) clause 18.1(b) applies, with any necessary changes, to the establishment of the permit or approval system.
- 18.3 To avoid doubt, the restrictions in clause 16.1 may be imposed, in the case of a road, by way of zone parking or a zone restriction.
- 18.4 Any restrictions that apply generally to a zone do not apply to locations within that zone where other specific stopping, standing or parking restrictions apply.
- 18.5 Where the conditions of parking require display in or on the vehicle of a ticket or receipt for payment or other similar document, then the requirement of display is not satisfied if the ticket, receipt or document:
 - (a) is torn, defaced, or mutilated to such an extent that any material particular is not legible; or
 - (b) has been tampered with so that it differs from the original document; or
 - (c) is not used in accordance with the instructions (if any) relating to its use given on the ticket, receipt or document or on any sign relating to the parking; or
 - (d) is not prominently displayed in the vehicle or is obscured or cannot easily be read and inspected by any person outside the vehicle.
- 18.6 A person must not park a vehicle in a parking place or transport station in contravention of a prohibition or restriction made under this clause, or without complying with a condition prescribed or applying under this clause. This includes, without limitation:
 - (a) failing to pay a prescribed parking charge, either in the prescribed manner or at all:
 - (b) failing to demonstrate proof of payment in the prescribed manner;

- (c) parking for a time period which is in excess of the time period for which payment has been made;
- (d) parking for a time period which is in excess of any maximum authorised period of parking prescribed by the Council.

19 Method of parking

- 19.1 Where individual parking spaces within a parking place or transport station are indicated by painted lines or other markings:
 - (a) each vehicle must be parked entirely within a single parking space;
 - (b) where the parking spaces are to be used for angle parking only, vehicles must be parked on the angle indicated;
 - (c) where the parking spaces comprise bays for angle parking of motorcycles, no motorcycle (other than a motorcycle with a sidecar attached) shall be parked across any line marking the edge of the bay.

20 Mobility parking

- A person may not park a vehicle in a parking place set aside for mobility parking unless:
 - (a) a current mobility parking permit is prominently displayed in the vehicle; and
 - (b) the vehicle is being used to convey the holder of that permit or to pick up or drop off that person.

21 Residents' parking

- 21.1 The Council may by resolution:
 - (a) if it considers it reasonable to do so, reserve any specified parking place or places as a residents' parking area, for the exclusive use of persons residing in the vicinity;
 - (b) prescribe:
 - (i) the criteria for qualifying to use the residents' parking area, and any conditions attaching to such use such as a requirement to display an approved resident's parking permit;
 - (ii) any fees to be paid for the use of the residents' parking area including the manner in which the fees are calculated and the manner of payment;
- A person must not park a vehicle in a resident's parking area in contravention of a prohibition or restriction made, or a condition imposed, under this clause.

Passenger service vehicles, goods service vehicles, rental service vehicles

- No small passenger service vehicle shall be parked on any road other than a parking place or transport station set aside for the use of small passenger service vehicles, unless the vehicle:
 - (a) is in the course of hire; or
 - (b) is not available for hire.
- No large passenger service vehicle shall be parked on any road other than a parking place or transport station set aside for such vehicles, unless the vehicle is in the process of loading or unloading passengers.
- No passenger service vehicle exceeding 2,000 kilograms in tare weight or goods service vehicle exceeding 4,000 kilograms in tare weight shall be parked on any road between midnight and 5.00am, except where such overnight parking has been specifically authorised by the Council.
- No goods service vehicle, large passenger service vehicle, small passenger service vehicle, or rental service vehicle parked on any road shall be washed down or cleaned in such a way that any water, sludge or other liquid flows from the vehicle onto any road or into a culvert, ditch or drain associated with the road.
- No goods service vehicle, large passenger service vehicle, small passenger service vehicle, or rental service vehicle shall be parked on any road with its engine running for a period in excess of 5-minutes.
- No rental service vehicle shall be parked on any road other than a parking place or transport station set aside for such vehicles, unless the vehicle is under hire at the time of the parking.

23 Parking off roadway

- A person must not stop, stand or park a motor vehicle on that part of a road which is laid out as a lawn or cultivated area, including a grass plot, a flower bed or a shrubbery.
- A person must not stop, stand or park a vehicle off a roadway in any reserve, park or similar land used for public recreation, and which is under the Council's control, except:
 - (a) in an area designed and constructed to accommodate a parked vehicle; or
 - (b) where the Council has given specific permission to stop, stand or park the vehicle in that place.

24 Miscellaneous

- A person must not drive or park a vehicle on any road or in any public place in a manner that causes a nuisance.
- A person must not chain or otherwise leave a bicycle, wheeled recreational device or other vehicle in such a way which unreasonably obstructs the road, footpath or

damages public property.

- 24.3 A person must not, without the prior written consent of the Council:
 - (a) leave or place on a road, footpath, road margin or roadway, anything other than a vehicle (for example, but without limitation, any machinery, equipment, containers or materials), except that this prohibition does not apply to containers which are used solely for Council-authorised kerbside collection of waste or diverted material, if such containers do not unreasonably obstruct the road or footpath nor remain for more than 24 hours:
 - (b) stop, stand or park a vehicle on a road or parking place for the purpose of advertising a good or service or offering the vehicle for sale, unless the vehicle is being used for bona fide travel and is parked, incidentally, in the course of such travel.
 - (c) leave a vehicle (including a vehicle which is broken down) parked on a road or parking place for a continuous period of more than 7 days other than in a designated long term parking area;
 - (d) carry out repairs or modifications to a vehicle on a road unless those repairs or modifications are of a minor nature and do not impede the flow of traffic or are necessary to enable the vehicle to be moved.

24.4 A person must not:

- (a) remove, deface, or otherwise interfere with any notice, board, sign, picture or device which has been erected or placed by the Council in relation to parking or the control of vehicles on any road or in any public place;
- (b) misuse, damage, interfere or tamper with any parking machine.

Part 4 - General Provisions

25 Inspection

- 25.1 Any authorised officer may, for the purposes of this bylaw:
 - (a) inspect any parked vehicle;
 - (b) take any action to assist in determining or proving the period for which a vehicle is parked including marking the tyres of the vehicle;
 - (c) inspect any ticket or receipt for payment or similar document demonstrating payment for parking, or any parking machine;
 - (d) require the driver, or any person appearing to be in charge of a parked vehicle, to produce for inspection any ticket or receipt for payment or similar document (including an electronic document) demonstrating payment for parking;
 - (e) retain, for the purposes of any enforcement action under this bylaw, any

such document where the authorised officer believes on reasonable grounds that it may be evidence relevant to a breach of this bylaw in relation to parking.

26 Offences and penalties

- 26.1 The operation, driving, using or parking of any vehicle in breach of any of the provisions of this bylaw or any resolution made under this bylaw is a breach of this bylaw.
- 26.2 Without limiting the liability of any person under any enactment, every person commits an offence who:
 - (a) commits a breach of this bylaw.
 - (b) causes or permits to be done, anything contrary to this bylaw.
 - (c) omits, fails or refuses to do anything required by this bylaw.
 - (d) operates any vehicle contrary to this bylaw.
 - (e) as the owner of anything parked or left on any road or in any public place does any act contrary to the provisions of this bylaw.
 - (f) is the driver, operator, person in charge, or user of any vehicle, which is driven, operated, used or parked in breach of this bylaw.
- Nothing in clause 26.2 limits the liability of any person for an infringement offence as defined in the Act.
- Any person breaching a provision of this bylaw made under section 22AB of the Land Transport Act 1998 and in respect of which no other penalty provision applies is liable for a fine of \$1000.
- Subject to any provision to the contrary, any person convicted of an offence of breaching a provision of this bylaw made under the Local Government Act 2002 is liable for the penalties set out in section 242 of the Local Government Act 2002.
- 26.6 Every person guilty of an infringement offence is liable for the applicable infringement fee relating to that offence together with any applicable towage fee.

27 Exceptions

- 27.1 A person is not in breach of this bylaw if that person proves that:
 - (a) the act or omission complained of took place in response to a situation on a road; and
 - (b) the situation was not of the person's own making; and
 - (c) the act or omission was taken—
 - (i) to avoid the death or injury of a person; or

- (ii) if the act or omission did not create a risk of death or injury or greater damage to any property, to avoid damage to any property.
- 27.2 A person is not in breach of this bylaw if that person proves that the act or omission:
 - (a) took place in compliance with the directions of an authorised officer, traffic signal or traffic sign; or
 - (b) in the case of an act or omission done by an authorised officer was necessary in the execution of the person's duty.
- 27.3 Any restrictions made under Part 2 and 3 of this bylaw do not apply to:
 - (a) a vehicle that is engaged in urgent repair work to a public utility service;
 - (b) a vehicle that is being used as an emergency vehicle in attendance at an emergency situation (including a civil defence emergency);
 - (c) a vehicle that is being used to transport registered medical personnel to assist at an emergency situation.
- Any restrictions made under Part 3 of this bylaw do not apply to an authorised officer in the execution of duty, or permitted provided that:
 - (a) the activity for which the vehicle is being used is necessary for the purpose of duty or function;
 - (b) the vehicle is being used with due consideration for other road users; and
 - (c) where practicable, no other reasonable alternative for conducting the duty or function is available that would avoid contravening the bylaw.

28 Revocation

The Queenstown Lakes District Council Traffic and Parking Bylaw 2018, including all amendments, is revoked.

29 Savings

Any resolutions, approvals, permits or other acts of authority made pursuant to the Queenstown Lakes District Council Traffic and Parking Bylaw 2018, or any previous traffic and parking bylaw made by the Council, and in force as at the date of revocation of the Queenstown Lakes District Council Traffic and Parking Bylaw 2018, remain in force and are deemed to have been made under this bylaw, until revoked or amended by the Council.

Additional information to Traffic and Parking Bylaw 2025

This document contains matters for information purposes only and does not form part of any bylaw. It may include matters made pursuant to a bylaw and other matters to assist in the ease of understanding, use and maintenance. The information contained in this document may be updated at any time.

Contents

		Page
1	History of Bylaw [Constantia font 8]	19
2	Enforcement powers	20

1 History of Bylaw

Action	Description	Date of decision	Date of commencement
Make	Traffic and Parking Bylaw 2025	25 November 2025	8 December 2025
Revoke	Traffic and Parking Bylaw 2018	25 November 2025	8 December 2025
Make	Traffic and Parking Bylaw 2018	13 December 2018	1 March 2019
Revoke	Traffic and Parking Bylaw 2012	13 December 2018	1 March 2019
Make	Traffic and Parking Bylaw 2012	18 December 2012	2 May 2013
Revoke	Traffic and Parking Bylaw 2006	18 December 2012	2 May 2013
Make	Traffic and Parking Bylaw 2006	24 November 2006	1 December 2006
Revoke	Traffic and Parking Bylaw 2001	24 November 2006	1 December 2006
Make	Traffic and Parking Bylaw 2001	20 July 2001	1 September 2001

2 Enforcement powers

Legislative provision	Description
Sections 128E and 139(6) of the Land Transport Act 1998	Allows parking wardens to enforce any stationary vehicle offence or special vehicle lane offence, to direct the driver to remove any vehicle if it is obstructing the road or if it is desirable to remove the vehicle in the interests of road safety or for the convenience or interests of the public etc, or in those same circumstances, to move the vehicle or have someone else do so. Allows parking wardens to issue an infringement notice or proceed with a prosecution under the Criminal Procedures Act 2011.
Part 8 of the Local Government Act 2002	162 Injunctions restraining commission of offences and breaches of bylaws 163 Removal of works in breach of bylaws 164 Seizure of property not on private land 165 Seizure of property from private land 168 Power to dispose of property seized and impounded 171 General power of entry 172 Power of entry for enforcement purposes 173 Power of entry in cases of emergency 175 Power to recover for damage by wilful or negligent behaviour 176 Costs of remedying damage arising from breach of bylaw 178 Enforcement officers may require certain information 183 Removal of fire hazards 185 Occupier may act if owner of premises makes default 186 Local authority may execute works if owner or occupier defaults 187 Recovery of cost of works by local authority 188 Liability for payments in respect of private land